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SUMMARY

1. From at least January 2004 to the present, defendants have engagedin a

fraudulent scheme to solicit members of the public throughout the United States to send

them millions of dollars for the purpoée of engaging in illegal foreign currency option

.transactions. Defendants represent that they have over $80 million under management.

2. Defendant Gerald Leo Rogers (“Rogers™) directly or indirectly controls
the illegal activities of the other defendants and is an ongoing economic threat to society.

Rogers has a three-decade history of committing cunning white collar offenscs, and has




defrauded the public in various multi-million dollar scams involving false investment
programs, fictitious cdmpanies and products, and‘ offshore bank accounts designed to
| keep funds away from both hapless customers and the United States go{/emment.

3. In 1977 and 1990, Rogers was permanently enjoined from further
violations of the registration and antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws by the
United States District Courts for the Central District of California and the Western
District of Missouri, respectively. In 1987, Rogers was convicted of mail and tax fraud in
the Central District of California in connection with another fraudulent scheme. Rogers,
who had been free on bond, failed to appear for sentencing, and was given a 10 year
prison term and an additional five years’ probation ixn abseﬁtia. Rogers remained a
fugitive until January 1990, when he was apprehended in Zurich, Switzerland in.the
possession of a false passport. | |

4. In yet another criminal action, in 1990 Rogers was convicted of mail
fraud, wire fraud, and tax fraud by the United States District Court for the District of
- Colorado, and sentencea to 25 years’ imprisonment. Accordjng to the indictment, Rogers
defrauded thousands of investors into parting with approximately $79 million. He was
paroled on December 24, 2003, after serving 13 years.

5. Within 30 days of his December 2003 release from prison, Rogeré :
orchestrated his latest financial scam, as alleged herein.

6. Rogers has previously béen enjoined from the illegal commodity option
activities alleged herein. In 1990, the CFTC and the State of California jointly ﬁied_ an
injunctive action against Rogers for conducting unlawful, off-exchange commodity

option transactions. In 1993, the United States District Court for the Central District of




California permanently enjoined Rogers and the companies he controlled from engaging
in that conduct.

7. In the current scheme, Rogers and the other defendants solicit customers
to send them funds by representing that customer funds will be uséd to engage in foreign
currency covered call transactions, and that customers will be guaranteed a profitable
annual return on their funds of between 10% and 14.2% with no risk of loss to their
principal; 'Defendants represent that they make their “fixed income strategy of the
decade” available exclusively in the United States under a special license agreement
between defendants and a bank located in Switzerland.

8. Contrary to defendants’ representations to customers, even if customer
funds are invested as promised, defendants cannot guarantee fixed profits. Further, the
risk of loss may be substantial in connection with foreign currency covered call
transactions. -

9. By falsely representing to customers that foreign currency covered call
transactions produce guaranfeed profits with no risk of loss to principal, defendants haVe :
fraudulently solicited individuals to send funds to accounts under their confrol at various
domestic and offshore ba:qks, and misappropriated customer funds.

10.  Defendants répresent that customer funds will be deposited into individual
Premium Income Cérporation (“PIC”) accounts and used exclusively for foreigﬁ currency
- option transactions. Although customer funds are initially deposited in bank accounts in
the name of PIC, defendants do not disclose to customers that their funds are immediately
transferred from the PIC bank accounts to a domestic bank account in the name of

Inforex, Ltd. (“Inforex””) under the sole control of Rogers, and then transferred to




offshore bank accounté in the name of Inforex. Defendants make monthly payments to
some customers from the démestic Inforex bank account, and represent that those funds
are derived from foreign currency option transactions taking place 'offshofe. However,
the Inforex domestic éccount that defendants use to méke monthly payments to custom_efs
contains no funds that have beenrdeposited either from offshore bank accounts or from
trading accounts representing putative trading profits for customers. | It appears that
defendants are paying customers using the funds deposited by other customers in a
classic “Ponzi” scheme. /

11.  Defendants represent that they engage in foreign currency option
transactions through an agreement they have with a Swiss bank called Union Bank
Inter.net. In fact, Union Baﬁk Inter.net is not physically located in Switzerland and is ﬁot
registered with the SWiss Federal Banking Commission, as required by Swiss law. Its
website is registered to a business located in Scottsdale, Arizona, and is paid for by credit
-cards in the name of Rogers and Inforex.

| 12. Defendants represent that customer funds will be entirely used to ‘conduct
covered call option transactions and will not bé used for any ofher purpose. Contrary to
that claim, customer funds ére routinely transferred to domestic accounts under the
control of Rogers and Shevchenko and offshore accounts under Rogers’s control. At
least a portion of fhose funds are used for purposes unrelated to foreign cuﬁency options
trading, including, but not limited to, the payment. of personal expenses and the
undisclosed payment of commissions to individuals who solicit customers on behalf of

the defendants.




13.  Defendants have engaged, are engaging, or are about to engage in acts and
practices that violate the antiﬁaud and designated contract market provisions of the
Commodity Exchange Act, as amended (“Act”), 7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. (2002), and the
Regulations of the United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”), 17
CF.R. § 1.1 et seq. (2004).

14. By making material misrepresentations and omissions about profits, risk
of loss, and defendants’ own expertise in connection with trading foreign currency option
transactions and by misappropriating customer funds, defendants have violated the
antifraud provisions of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b) (2002), and CFTC
Regulations 1.1(b) and 32.9, 17 C.F.R. § 1.1(b) and 32.9 (2004).

15.. By offering, selling, entering into, confirming the execution of, and/or
conducting a business for the purpose of soliciting, accepting any order for or otherwise
dealing in off-exchange fhreign currency bption contracts that are not conducted on or
subject to the rules of a board of trade designated or registered by the CFTC 'as a
designated confract fnarket or derivatives fransaction execution facility for such«’
commodity, and executed or consummated by or through a designated contract market,
defendants have Vriolvated the designated contract market provisions of Section 4¢c(b) of
the Act, 7U.S.C. § 6¢(b) (2002), and CEFTC Regulation 32.11 (2004).

16.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1 (2002),
plaintiff CFTC brings this action to enjoin defendants’ commodity-related unlawful acts
and practices, to bar them from engaging in any commodity-related activities, and to |
compel their qpmpliance with the Act aﬁd the CFTC Regulations. In addition, the CFTC

seeks civil monetary penalties, an accounting, restitution to investors, disgorgement of




defendants’ ill-gotten gains, identification and r'epétriation of assets located outside the
United States, the surrender of passports, the appointment of a temporary and perma:neﬁt
receiver if necessary, and such other relief as this Court may deem necessary or
appropriate..

17..  Unless restrained and enj oined by this Court, defendants are .likely, and
will continue, to engage int the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint or in similar
acts and practices, as more fully described below.

| II.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

18.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of the
Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, which provides that Whenever it sha11 appear to the CFTC that any
person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engage in any act or practice constituting
a violation of any provision of the Act or any rule, regulation, or order promulgated
thereunder, the CFTC may bring an action against such person to e.nj oin such practice or
to enforce compliance with the Act.

19.  Pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(A) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(A) (2002),
the CFTC has exclusive jurisdiction over transactions involving commodity options such
as the transactions allegéd herein. Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b) and
Regulation 32.11, 17 C.F.R. §32.11 require that those transactions be conducted on, by,
or through a designated contract market or a derivatives transaction execution facility.

20, Section 2(c)(2)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B) (2002), expressly
clarifies that the CFTC has jurisdiction over contracts involving foreign currency options,

as alleged herein, where the contract is offered to, or entered into with, a person that is




not an eligible contract participant, unless the counterparty is one of the six regulated
entities listed in Section 2(c)(2)(B)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B)(ii). -

21. Section 1a(12)(A)(xi) of the Act, 7‘ US.C. § 1a(12)(A)(xi) (2002) defines
an eligible contract participant as an individual who has total assets in excess of “(I} $10
million; or (IT) $5 million, and who enters into the agreement, contract, or transaction in
order to manage the‘ risk associated with an asset owned or liability incurred, or
réasonably likely to be owned or incurred, by the individual.” The Comniission has
jurisdiction over the cbntracts at issue becausé, on informatio.n and belief, a substantial
number, if not most, of the customers defendants have solicited to ente; into foreign
currency option transactions are members of the retail investing public and are not
eligible contract participants.

22.  Further, none of the defendants is one of the six proper counterparties as
enumeréted in Section 2(c)(2)(B)(i1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B)(ii), who may offer
and/or enter into foreign currency dption transactions with persons who are not eligible
contract participants.

23.  Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13a-1(e), because defendants are found in, inhabit, or transact business iﬂ the
Northern District of Texas, and the acts and practices in violation of the Act have

occurred within this District, among other places.




I
THE PARTIES

A. Plaintiff

24.  Plaintiff United States Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(“CFTC”) is the independent federal regulatory agency chérged with the administration
and enforcement of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1 ef seq., and the Regulations promulgated
thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 1.1 et seq.
B. Defendants

25. Defendant Premium Income Corporation (“PIC”) is a corporation that
was registered in the State of Wyoming on January 20, 2004. PIC lists its addresses as
2470 Westlake Avenue North, Suite 104, Seattle, WA 98109 and 2400 NW 80® Street,
Suite 139, Seattle, WA 98117. PIC lists Inforex, Ltd. asits pﬁncipal. PIC also represents
that it is a wholly owned subsidiary and the USA division of Tri-Forex International, Ltd.
PIC maintains an Internet website at WWWw.premiumincomecorp.com. PIC reﬁresents that
it specializes in writing call ointions on foreign currency through its international network
of currency exchange brokers. PIC further represents that it makes this inv’estment
available exclusively in the United States under a license agreement with Union Bank
Inter.net (“UBI”). According to PIC, UBI is located in Switzerland and is a wholly
owﬁed subsidiary of the “Churchill Bank Group serving in the United Kingdom with
facilities in England, Denmark, Australia; Japan and elsewhere.” PIC has never been :
registered with the CFTC in any capacity.

26. Defendant Inforex, Ltd. (“Inforex”) is a corporation that was formed

under the laws of the State of Nevada on December 2, 2002. Inforex lists its business as




currency trading, and gives a coi‘porate address of 4300 North Miller Road, Scottsdale,
A7 85251. In May 2004, Illforex registered to do business in the State of Washington at
2470 Westlake Avenue North, Suite 104, Seattle, Washington 98109, Which is the same
business address as PIC’s.

27. Defendant Tri-ForeX International, Ltd. also known as Tri-Forex Ltd.
and International Forex Company (“Tri-Forex™) represents that it is a company located in
London, England, with offices in Sydney, Tokyo, and Seattle. Tri-Forex lists its business
address in Seattle, Washington as 2470 Westlake Avenue North, Suite 104, Seattle,
Washington 98109, which is the same business address as PIC’s. Tri-Forex claims to be
“the world’s leading company for the funding of Currency Tax Strategies in the United
States.” Contrary to these representations, the governments of thé United Kingdom,
Australia; and the State of Washington have no records showing that Tri-Forex has
registered to do busineés in their jurisdictions. Tri-Forex has never been registered with

‘the CFTC in any capacity.

28.  Defendant Gerald Leo Rogers, also known as Jay Rogers and Jay
Rodgers (‘;Rogers”), maintains an address at 8517 West Rockwood Drive, Peoria,
Arizona. Rogers directly or indirectly controls PIC, Inforex and Tri-Forex, and is the
mastermind of the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. Rogers is the chief operating officer
for Inforex’s business operations in the United States and is authorized to be the sole

- signatory on Inforex’s bank éccounts in the United States. Rogers is also a signatory on ..
PIC bank accounts. Rogers has a commodity frand, securities fraud, and criminat fraud
history that'spans almost three decades. Rogers has never been registered Wéth the CFTC

in any capacity.




29.  Defendant Alexander Igor Shevchenko (“Shevchenko™) maintains a
residence addreés at 414 NW 1807 Street, Shoreline WA98177. Shevchenko is the
manager of PIC’s Seattle business operation and is an authorized signatory on PIC bank
‘accounts. Shevchenko has never been registered with the CFTC in any capacity.

Iv.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

30.  Pursuant to Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), aﬁd CFTC
Regulations 1.1(b) and 32.9, 17 C.E.R. §§ 1.1(b) and 32.9, it is unlawful for any person to
cheat or defraud or to éttempt to cheat or defraud any person, willfully to make or cause
to be made any false report or statement, or willfully to deceive or attémpt to deceive any
person in or in connection with commodity option transactions.

31. Pursuant torSection 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and CFTC
Regulation 32.11, 17 C.F.R. §§ 32:11, it is unlawful for any person to offer to entery into,
to enter in;[o, to execute, to conﬁrm’the execﬁtion of, or to conduct any office or /businesé
for the purpose‘ of soliciting, or accepting any order for, or otherwise dealing in any
transaction in or in connection with commodity options, unless such transaction is
conducted on or subject to the rules of a contract market designated to trade commodity
options, or a foreign board of trade, or specifically exempted under the Act.

32. Section 2(c)(2)(B)of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(B) (2002), grants the
Commission jurisdiction over ﬁansactions involving a person that is not an eligible

contract participant unless the counterparty, or person offering to be the counterparty of

the person is:

D a financial institution . . .,

10




ao a broker or securities dealer or futures commission merchant...,
(II) an associated person of a broker or dealer or an affiliated person of

a futures commission merchant. ..,

(IV) ‘an insurance company.. .,
V) a financial holding company,
(VD) an investment bank holding company.

33.  Section 1a(12)(A)(xi) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(12)(A)(xi) (2002) defines
an eligible contract participant as an individual who has total assets in excess of “(I) $10
million; or (IT) $5 million, and who enters into the agreement, contract, or transaction in
ordér to manage the risk associated with an asset owned or liability incurred, or
reasonably }likely to be owned or incurred, by the individual.”

V.
FACTS

A. Defendants Have Committed Widespread Fraud In
Connection With Foreign Currency Option Transactions

34.  From at least 2004 and continuing through the present, Ro gers and the
other defendants, either directly or through other persons or entities under their employ,
supervisiori and control, or acting in combination or concert with them, or by

_participating or méterially aiding in the offers and sales of commodity options, have
participated in a fraudulent scheme to solicit retail customers throughout the United |
States and elsewhére to send funds to them for the pﬁrpose of engaging in foreign
currency covered call option transactions traded in the foreign exchange markets

(“forex”). Defendants fraudulently obtain funds from customers by making

11




. misrepresentations and omissions of material fact about profit, risk of loss, and their

experience in connection with trading options on foreign currency.
i. Covered Call Writing
35. A “call” is one of two types of commodity options, and conveys to the

buyer the nght (but not the obligation) to purchase a specific cémmodity or other asset at
a particular price during a speciﬁed period of time. The price for which the commodity
can be bought (in the case of a call) under the terms of the option contract is referred to as
the option's strike price or exercise price. The date on which an option expires--the date
after which it can no longer be exercised--is the option's “expiration date.” “European
style” options — the type involved in the covered call transactions offered by PIC — can
only be exercised on the expiration date. The price of an option itself, i.e., the sum of

~ money or other consideration paid by the buyer of an option and received by the seller of

an option, is the option's “premium.”

36.  The option sellér’s or writer’s potential for profits is limited to the axﬁount of
the premium received for sale of the option. The potential for losseg, however, is virtually
unlimited. For exainple, the seller or writer of a call option. on a given comrﬂodity will
realize é profit inﬁ the amount of the premjﬁm received if the commodity price never rises
above the strike price of the option, since the option will expire unexercised. To the extent
- that the commodity price rises above the strike price by an amount that more than offsets the
original pfemium income, and continues to rise as expiraﬁon of the option approaches,
however, the call option seller stands to lose ever-increasing amounts.

37. Covered calls are call optiéns sold, or written, against an asset that one

owns (called “cover”). If the covered call is ever exercised by the holder of the option,

12




‘the writer of thé option can satisfy the exercise by delivering the coﬁer. In essence, the
covered call writer exchanges the opportunity to participate in potential increases in the
‘value of the asset that he uses for cover for the option premium that is received from the
sale of the call option. In the scheme alleged in this complaint, the defendants purported
to write call options valued against a foreign currency rate and covered by an asset
consisting of U.S. dollars. |

38. The risk retained by the covered call writer is that the value of the asset
that provides cover may decrease in valuc by more than the amount of the premium
received from writing the option. In the extreme, the covered call writer could lose the
entire value of the cover and be left with only the premium.

ii. Scope Of Defendants’ Fraudulent Scheme

39. | Within the last six months, defendants have solicited customers to open
accounts with PIC for the purpose of engaging in foreign currency covered call
transéctions._ Calling their scheme the “Fixed Income Strategy of the Decade,”
defendants have aggressively markéted their fraudulent scheme to the public through
public seminars, direct mailings, pﬁblic adx}ertisements, and the Internet websites
www.premiumincomecorp.com (“PIC Website”), www.premiumincomebrokers.com
(“PIB Website”), and www.unionbankinter.net (UBI Website™).

40. Deféndants especially target retired persons to send funds to PIC.
Defendants represent that speculation in stocks could be a recipe for disaster for persons
who are retired or approaching retirement age, and that PIC’s “guaranteed locked-in

profits” represents the solution to their fixed-income dilemma. Defendants further

13




répresent that PIC’s purported locked-in profits “will almost always out-perform
Government bonds, bank CDs and money market accounts.”

41.  The scheme the defendants have promoted is as follows: PIC offers an
investment at its seminars, and through its brochure and web-site, entitled “Writing
Covered Calls on Currency Deposits,” through which PIC represents that it sells covered
currency calls on the investor’s behalf to a speculator. Under the covered call, an
investor deposits currency (U.S. dollars) with PIC, and is paid upfront premiums by a
speculator who receives a call option granting him the right, but not the obligation, to buy
the investor’s currency deposit in exchange for Euros at the prevailing exchange rate at
eithera 5 ye.;:lr or 10 year expiration date. The currency calls purportedly are written with
European option terms, which differ from American terms, in that the Buropean call
cannot be exercised until the expiration date. The solicitation material claims that in
writing covered calls on behalf of its customer, PIC will “never place your deposit(s) at

risk.” To give the customer the appearance of safety, PIC’s brochure emphasizes that the
custjomer is not the “speculator” in this transaction.

42.  Defendants have perpetuated their fraudulent scheme by actively
recruiting financial planners, iﬁsurance agénts, and other persons thfoughout the Unﬁed
States to become PIC brokers. Defendants enter into written broker agreements with

- such persons, designating them as new “Area Brokers” for PIC. The agreements provide
that PIC will pay an Area Broker 10% of the gross funds deposited by a customer with
PIC to purchase 5 or 10 year foreign currency covered call options. In the manner of a

pyré.mid scheme, the agreerﬁents also provide that PIC will pay an Area Broker a 10%

14




override commission based on the gross commission of each person they personally
recruited for PIC to act as an Area Broker.

43.  Defendants represent that they recruited 100 Area Brokers in 2004, the
maj\oﬁty recruited during the last quarter of 2004. In February 2005, defendants
represénted that they had recruited over 140 Area Broke_:ré.

| 44.  Defendants, acting in concert with Area Brokers, répresent that they have
solicited customers tq send them at least $80 million for the purpose of engaging in
foreign currency covered call transactions. In an effort to entice Area Brokers to solicit
customers, defendants have represented that Rogers personally handles a $30 million
account to sell covered call transactions on foreign currency for Microsoft. |

45. Defendants direct Area Brokers to instruct customers to send their funds to
domestic bank accounts in the name of PIC, incIuding, but not limited to, Chase Bank in
Texas and New York, Bank One in Arizona, and Asia-Europe-Americas Bank in
Washington. Custo‘mer funds deposited into the domestic PIC bank accounts are
“immediately transferred to a domestic bank account controlled by Rogers in the name of
Inforex. The vast majority of funds in the domestic Inforex account are then transferred
to offshore bank accounts in the name of Inforex.

iii. Material Misrepresentations And Omissions Concerning Profit

46.  Insoliciting customers, defendants represent that they have an exclusive
licensing agreement with a foreign bank whereby they are able to guarantee customers a
monthly fixed income amounting to between 10% and 14.2 % in annual profits.
Defendants guarantee customers a 1.1 % monthly return which annualizes to 13.2% on

customer funds used to write a 10 year foreign currency covered call option. Defendants
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represent that, on the expiration date of a 10 year optioﬁ, cuétomers will receive their
deposit back and a sum representing “10% Value Added,” equaling a total maturity of
14.2 %. Defendants also guarantee customers a 10 % annual return, representing a 0.83
% monthly return, on customer funds used to write a 5 year foreign currency covered call
option.

47.  Defendants claim that PIC will use customer funds to sell foreign currency
covered calls and never place those funds at risk. Defendants fepresent to customers that
selling foreign currency covered calls is a “totally non-speculative and passive way to
diversify your liquid assets for the dual purposes of creating a spendable, ta:g-free
monthly cash flow and deferring taxes on capital gains until the yéar following the
Expiration Date [of the option], whether it be a 5-Year or 10-Year Currency Call.”

48. Contrary to théir representations to customers, profits on covered call
options strategies cannot be guaranteed. Profits cannot be guaranteed because the writing
of covcred calls on a foreign currency position exposes customer funds to the risk of
partial or complete loss on the underlying currency as a result of changes in the currency
exchange rates prior to the expiration date of the option.

iv. Material Misrepresentations And Omissions Concerning Risk Of
Loss '

49.  In addition to profit misrepresentations, defendants have misrepresented
the risk of loss associated with selling foreign currency covered call options by making
‘rﬁateﬁal statements minimizing the risk of loss inherent in foreign curfency options.

50.  Through the PIC and PIB websites, and oral and written representations to

. Area Brokers, defendants have claimed that little or no risk is involved in selling covered
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currency calls. Defendants represent that “Premium Income Corp will write and Sell
Currency Calls for you, yet never place your deposit(s) at risk.”
g | 51.  Defendants’ representatio‘ns. of no risk of loss to éustomers are materially
false and they omit to inform customers of material facts impactiﬁg risk of loss.
Defendants fail to inform customers that writing covered calls on foreign currency has
substantial downside risks. Specifically, Defendants fail to disclose to customers that the
risk_facing the foreign currency covered call writer is that the price of the currency will
rise by an amount greatér than the option premium received from the sale of the call
option..

52.  Defendants misrepresent the significant risk of loss in writing covered
calls on foreign currency by falsely stating that there is no risk of loss to customer funds
because the risk is the same as the buying power of the dollar. Defendants fail to inform

customers that writing covered calls has substantial downside risk that goes far beyond

that of the buying power of the dollar.

v. Material Misrepresentations and Omissions Concerning Expertise
And Experience : ‘
53.  Defendants make numerous misrepresentations and omissions of material

fact in connection .with their experience and expertise in foreign currency option
transactions. Specifically, defendants fraudulently misrepresent and fail to disclose --
particﬁlarly in light of affirmative and mislea&ing representations they make on the same
subjects -- significant facts about their background, tréding ability, the nature of their
professional trading experience, and the nature of their trading operations.

54. Defendant Rogers represents that he recently formed PIC to conduct

foreign currency option transactions for persons in the United States on behalf of Tri-
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Forex. Rogers further represents that he previously lived for 15 years in Europe and
wofked on foreign currency option transactions at Tri—ForeX.‘ In fact, Ro geré has been in
pﬁson for 13 of the last 14 years, and prior to that was a fligitive in Europe. Rogers has
not discloéed that he is currently on parole in connection with a 25 year criminal Sentence
for investment fraud. Rogers also has not disclosed that he has numerous civil and
_criminal convictions for investment fraud over the last 30 years.

55.  Defendants represent that PIC has an exclusive license agreement with
UBI. Defendants state that UBI is domiciled in Sv‘vitzerland and is a wholly owned
subsidiary of the “Churchill Bank Group serving in the United Kingdom with facilities in
England, Denmark, Australia, Japan and elsewhere.” Contrary to these representatioﬁs,
neither UBI nor the Churchill Bank Group is listed as a bank or-authorized to do business
in the United Kingdom, England or Australia. Further, defendants represent that UBI has
a business address in Scotland that is, in fact, éresidential apartment address unrelated to
any business operations of UBI. Defendants fail to disclose that UBI’s website is
registered to a business located in Scoftsdale, Arizona, and is paid for by credit cards in
the name of Rogers and Inforex.

56. Defendants; represent that PIC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tri-Forex:
and that Tri-Forex is located in Londbn, England with other 1ocations‘ in Sydney, Tokyo,
and Seattle. Defendants further represent that Tri-Forex specializes in writing
international curréncy call options through its international network of cﬁrrency exchange
brokers, and has over 40 years experience. ‘Contrary to these representations, Tri-Forex
has no registered business address and is not authorized to do business in London,

England, Sydney or Seattle.
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57..  Defendants represent that “100% of your deposit is dedicated to ‘Selling’
$i,000 Covered Calls.” Contrary to defendants’ representation, 10% of custorﬁer
deposits are paid to Area Brokers in commissions that are not disclosed to the customers,
thus immédiately imp‘airihg the profit potential of their investments. Customer’ funds are
also transferred to onshore and offshore bank accounts in the name of Inforex that are
solely under Rogers” control.

vi. Misappropriation Of Customer Funds

58. Defendants represent that all customer funds will be depésited into “PIC
Account” and used only for the purpose of selling covered calls on foreign currency. In
fact, defendants have misappropriated customer funds by using them to pay commissions
to Area Brokers and pay expenses unrelated to foreign currency option transactions.

59. Defendants have directed at least some customers to make deposits in
accounts in the name of PIC at AsiakEurope Americas Bank (“AEA Bank™), J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank (“Chasé Bank”), and Bank One for the purpose of conducting foreign
currency covered call transactions. The PIC account at Bank One was opened in January
2004, the PIC account at AEA Bank was opened in July 2004, and the two PIC accounts
at Chase Bank were opened in November and December 2004. Since January 2004,
approximately $8.5 million has been deposited into these PIC bank accounts.

60.  Defendants represent that customer funds will be deposited info individual
PIC accounts and used exclusively for foreign currency covered call transactions.
Defendants further represent that customer funds will be transferred to a Swiss bank
called UBI for the purpose of engaging in yforeign currency covered call transactions. As

previously alleged, UBI is not registered as a Swiss bank and no funds are transferred
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from PIC bank accounts to UBL In fact, although customer funds are ihitially deposited
in bank accounts in the name of PIC at Bank One, AEA Bank, and Chase Bank,
defendants do not disclose to customers that their funds are immediately transferred from
these PIC bank accounts to a domestic bank account in the name of Inforex at AEA Bank
under the sole control of Rogers and then transferred to offshore bank accounts in the
name of Inforex at Saxo Bank in Denmark and Synthesis Bank in Switzerland.

61. Defendants make monthly payménts to some customers from the domestic
Inforex bank accouht at AEA Bank and represent that those funds are derived from
foreign currency option transactions taking place off-shore. However, no funds from
either offshore‘bank accounts or trading accounts representing plitative trading profits,
including the Inforex accounts at Saxo Bank and Synthesis Bank, have been deposited in
the Inforex domestic account at AEA Bank that defendants use to pay customers monthly
payments.

62.  Defendants have transferred most of the funds deposited into the PIC
accounts at Bank One, AEA Bank and Chase Bank to an account in the name of Inforex
at AEA Baﬁk, an accounf under the sole control of Rogers. Defendants have transferred
approximately $370,000 of customer funds deposited in the Inforex account at AEA
Bank to an accouht in thé name of PIC at Global Cash Card (“Globél”). Global is a
compaﬁy that provides prepaid ATM cash debit cards to its customers. Defendants issue

| Global debit cards to Area Brokers who use the cards to obtain commissions from the
funds deposited by defendants with Globl, |

63.  Defendants transfer a portion of customer funds deposited in the Inforex

account at AEA Bank to an account in the name of Inforex at Compass Bank under the
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sole control of Rogers. Customer funds from this account have been used to pay Roger’s
personal and business expenses.

64.  Defendants use a portion of customer funds deposited in the PIC ‘account
at Bank One fo pay personal and business expenses. Defendants also use funds from this
account to pay broker commissions.

B. Defendants Have Engaged In Illegal Off-Exchange Option Tran§actions

65.  Defendants solicit persons td send them funds for the pufpose of engaging
in foreign currency covered call transactions. Defendants represent to customers that PIC
will write and sell foreign currency call options on behalf of customers.

66.  Defendants enter into account agreements between PIC and customers
providing that customer accounts established with PIC “shall be for\‘the writing (selling)
of covered calls.” The customer account agreements further provide that PIC will verify
the foreign currency covered call transaction with the customer by a same-day
confirmation, upon receipt of the customer’s funds and executed account agreemént.

67. Defendants do not offér, sell, enter into, confirm the e_xecution of, and/or
their conduct business of soliciting, accepting any order for or otherwise dealing in off-
exchange foreign currency option transactions on or subject to the rules of a contract
market or foreign board of trade, nor any of these transactions executed or consummated
by or thrdugh a member of such a contract market or foreign board of trade.

68.  Section 2(c)(2)(B)(i) and (ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2, provides that the
CFTC shall have jurisdiction over an agreement, contract or transaction in foreign

currency that is an option, so long as the contract is “offered to, or entered into with, a
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person that is not an eligible contract participant’” unless the counterparty, or the person
offering to be the counterparty, is a specified regulated entity. ;

69. Defendants have been offering and/or entering into foreign cﬁrrency
option transactions with individual customers, some or all of whom, on information and
belief, are non-eligible contract participants, i.e., retail customers.

70.  Defendants deposit cﬁstomer funds in domestic PIC accounts and transfer
most of those funds to domestic and off—shore accounts in the name of Inforex under the
sole contro] of Rogers. Defendants issue monthly “profits” to customers from the Inforex
accounts that are purportedly derived from covered call options transactions. By such
conduct, defendants are acting as counterparties to the customers’ options transactions.
Neither Rogers nor any of the other defendants is a proper counterparty for retail foreign
currency option transactions as enumerated in Section 2(c)(2)(B)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C.

§2.
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VL

VIOLATIONS OF THE COMMODITY EXCHANGE ACT
AND THE CFTC REGULATIONS

COUNTI

FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH OPTION TRANSACTIONS

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4¢(b) OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b),
AND SECTIONS 1.1(b) AND 32.9 OF THE REGULATIONS,
17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b) AND 32.9

71. Paragraphs‘l through 70 above are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

72. . From at least January 2004 and continuing through the pre.sent,
defendants, either directly or through other persons or entities either under their employ,
supervision and control or acting in combination or concert with them, violated ’Section
4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Seetions 1.1tb) and 32.9 of the Regulations,’ 17
C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b) and 32.9, in that they have cheated, defrauded or deceived, or attempted
to cheat, defraud, or deceive other persens by méking false, deceptive, or misleading
representations of material facts and by faﬂing to disclose material facts, in Soiiciting
custorﬁers or potential customefs, in or in connection with an offer to enter into, the entry
into, or the confirmation of the execution of commodity option transactions including, but

not limited to:

(2) false representations that customers who purchase options on foreign
currency will be guaranteed profits of between 10% and 14.2%;

(b) false representations that writing foreign currency covered call options
involves little or no risk;
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(c) false representations that customer funds are being used to purchase and
sell foreign currency options; S

(d)  false representations that purported option transactions are generating
significant profits; -

(e) failure to disclose the substantial risk associated with foreign currency
options;

() failure to disclose material facts regarding trading practices, commissions,
- and background of defendants, particularly in light of misleading

affirmative statements made on those issues; and

(g)  misappropriation of customer funds.

73.  From at least January 2004 and continuing through the present, Rogers
and Shevshenko direcﬂy or indirectly controlled PIC and did not act in good faith, or
knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting the violations described in
this Count. Pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, Rogers and Shevshenko are therefore
liable for PIC’s violations of the Act and Regulations as described in this Count.

74.  From at least January 2004 and contihuing through the present, Rogers
directly or indirectly controlled Inforex and did not act in good faith, or knowingly
.induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting the violations described in this Count.
Pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, Rogers is therefore liable for Inforex’s violations of
the Act and Regulations as described in this Count.

75. Defendants Rogers and Shevshenko willfully aided, abetted, counseled,
commanded, induced, or procured the commission of violations of the Act and
Regulatiops alleged in this Count, or acted in combination or in concert with each other,
or willfully caused acts to’be done or omitted which when directly performed or omitted

constituted violations of the Act and Regulations described in this Count. Pursuant to
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Section 13(a) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a), defendants Rogers and Shevshenko therefore
violated Section 4c¢(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Regulations 1.1(b) and 32.9, 17
C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b) and 32.9, as described in this Count.

76.  Defendants Rogers and Shevshenko engaged in the illegal conduct alleged
in this Count within the scope of their offices or employment as agénts of defendant PIC.
Pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)}(B), defendant PIC is
therefore liable as a principal for the violations of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. §
6¢(b), and Regulations 1.1(b) and 32.9, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b) and 32.9, by its agents
Rogers and Shevshenko.

77.  Each misrepresentation of material facts aﬁd each failure to disclose
material facts including, but not limited to those speciﬁcally alleged herein, is alleged as
a separate and distinct violation of Section 4c(b)of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and
Regulations 1.1(b) and 32.9, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1.1(b) and 32.9.

COUNT I1

OFFER AND SALE OF ILLEGAL OFF EXCHANGE OPTION CONTRACTS

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 4¢(b) OF THE ACT, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b)
AND REGULATIONS 32.11,17 C.F.R. § 32.11

78.  Paragraphs 1 through 77 are ;e—aﬂe ged and incorporated herein.

79. Section 4¢(b) of.’the Act, 7U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Section 32.11 of the
Regulations, 17 C.F.R. §§ 32.11, together provide that it shall be unlawful for any person
to solicit or accept orders for, or accept funds in connection with, the purchase or sale of
any commodity option, or supervise any person or persons so engaged, unless the

commodity option is conducted (1) on or subject to the rules of a contract market which
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has been designated by the Commission fo trade options and (2) by or through a member
thereof in accordance with the Act and Regulations.

80.  From at least January 2004 to the present, defendants, and other persons or
entities under their supervision or control, or acting in combination or concert with them,
have Soh’cited and/or accepted orders for, and/or accepted money, securities or property
in connection with, the purchase and sale of commodity options when such transactions
have not been condubted or executed on or subject to the rules of a contract market, or a
foreign board of trade in violation of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and
Section 32.11 of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. § 32.11.

81.  Defendants Rogers and Shevshenko willfully aided, abetted, counseled,
commanded, induced, or procured the commission of violations of the Act and
Regulationé described in this Count, or acted in combination or in concert with each
other, or wilifully caused acts to be done or omitted which when directly performed or
omitted cohstituted the violations described in this Count. Pursuant to Section 13(a) of
the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13c(a), defendants Rogers and Shevshenko violated of Section 4c(b) -
- of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Section 32.11 of the Regulations, 17 CFR §§ 32.11, as
described in this Count. |

82. Defen(iants Rogers and Shevchenko directly or indirectly controlled PIC,
and did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, direCtly or indirectly, the acts
constituting the violations described this Count. Pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7
U.S.C. § 13c(b), defendants Rogers and Shevchenko are liable for the violations of
Section 4¢(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Regulation 32.11 17 C.F.R. § 32.11, as »

described in this Count, to the same extent as PIC.
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83.  Defendant Rogers directly or indirectly controlled Inforex, and did not act

in good faith or knowingly induced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting the

violations described this Count. Pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 13¢(b),
defendant Rogers is liable for the violations of Section 4c(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b),
and Regulation 32.11, 17 C.F.R. § 32.11, as described in this Count, to the same extent as
Inforex.

84.  Defendants Rogers and Shevchenko engaged in the illegal conduct alleged
in this Count within the scope of their offices or employment as agents of defendant PIC.
Pursuant to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B), defendant PIC is liable
as a principal for the illegal conduct of its agents defendants Ro gers and Shevchenko. |

85.  Defendant Rogers engaged in the illegal conduct alleged in this Count
withih the scope of his office or employment as an agent of defendant Inforex. Pursuant |
to Section 2(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(1)(B), defendant Inforex is liable as a
principal for the illegal conduct of its agent Rogers.

86." = Each commodity dption transaction not conducted on a designated
contract market made during the relevant time period, including but not limited to those
speciﬁcally alleged herein, is alleged as a separate and distinct violation of Section 4c¢(b)
of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6¢(b), and Section 32.11 and of the Regulations, 17 CFR.§§

32.11.
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VIL
RELIEF REQUESTED

- WHEREFORE, plaintiff CFTC respectfully requests that this Court, as authorized
by Section 6¢ of the Act,. 7U.S.C. § 13a-1, and pursuant to the Court’s owﬁ equitable
powers: | |
A. Enter orders of preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining defendants and all
persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity of agents, servants, employees,
successors, assigns, or attorneys of defendants, and all persons insofar as they are acting
in active concert or participation with defendants, from directly or indirectly engaging in
conduct that violates the provisions of the Actand the CFTC Regulations alleged herein;
B. - Enter an order prohibiting defendahts, all persons insofar as they are acting in the |
capacity of agents, servants, empioyees, successors, assigns, or attorneys of defendaﬂts,
and all persons insofar as they are acting in active concert or partici_pétion with
defendants, who receive actual notice of the order, by pérsonal service ér otherwise, from
directly or indiréctly:

1.. . Destroying, mutilating, concealing, altering or disposing of any books and
records, documents, correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically
stored data, tape records, or other pr‘operty.of defendant, wherever
situated, including, but not limited to, all such records concerning
defendant’s business and banking operatiéns; and

2. Refusing to permit authorized representatives of the CFTC to inspect,
when and as requested, any books and records, documents,

correspondence, brochures, manuals, electronically stored data, tape
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records or other property of defendants, whenever located, including all

such records concerning defendants’ business operations.

C. Enter an order prohibiting defendaﬂts, all persons insofar as they are acting in the

capacity of agerits, servants, employees, successors, assigns, or attorneys of defendants,

~and all persons insofar as they are acting in active concert or participation with

defendants who receive actual notice of the Order by personal service or otherwise, from

directly or indirectly:

1.

Soliciting or accepting any funds from any person in connection with the

purchase or sale of any commodity interest contract;

2. Placing orders or giving advice or price quotations, or other information in
* connection with the purchase or sale of commodity interest contracts for -
\ themselves and others;
3. Introducing customers to any other person engaged in the business of
commodity interest trading;
4, Issuing statements or reports to others concerning commodity interest
trading; and
5. Engaging in any business activities related to commodity interest trading.
D.  Enter an order directing defendants to make an acc_oﬁnting to the Court' of all

assets and liabilities, together with all funds received from and paid to investors and other

persons in connection with the acts and practices alleged in this Complaint, and all

disbursements for any purpose whatsoever of funds received from customers of

defendants and other commodity or security interest investors, including salaries,

commissions, fees, loans and other disbursements of money and property of any kind;
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E. Enter an order directing defendants immediately to identify and provide an

accounting for all assets and financial accounts they currently maintain or control, eithér

directly or indirectly, outside the United States, and to repatriate all such assets and funds

by paying them to the Registry of the Court or as otherwise ordered by the Court;

F. Enter an order requiring defendants to disgorge to any officer appointed and

directed by the Court all béneﬁts received including, but not limited to, salaries,

commissions, loans, fees, revenues and trading pr_oﬁts derived, directly or indir)ectly,

from the unlawful acts and practices as described herein, including pfe-judgment and

post—judgment interest.

G. Enter an order requiring defendants to make restitution for harm caused by,

violatioﬁs of the provisions of the Act and the CFTC Regulations as described herein,

including pre-judgment;anc.l post-judgment interest.

H. Enter an order requiring defendants to pay civil monetary penalties under Section

6¢ of the Act, 7U.S.C. § 13a-1, in amounts not more than the higher of $120,000~fof each

violation, or triple the monetary gain to defendants for each violation of the Act;

| Enter an order directing defendants to cooperate fully with the CFTC to locate all
; assets, books, and records of defendants and to make an acc'ountihg of all assets and

liabilities of defendants from January 2002 to the date of such accounting; and
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J. Such other equitéble relief as the Court may deem necessary or appropriate under
the circumstances.

Respectfully submitted by,

- Richard P. Foelber
Daniel Nathan
Attorneys for Plaintiff
United States Commodity
Futures Trading Commission
Three Lafayette Centre
1155 21% Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20581
Telephone:  (202) 418-5320
Facsimile: (202) 418-5538

Dated:
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